# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2

1

**-**3

4

5

6

7

8

10

11

12

13 14

15

16

17

18

19

20 21

22

23 24

25

Appellant,
v.
STATE OF NEVADA,

JOHN E. MALONE

1601 Fairview Drive

Phone: 775-301-6414

Fax: 775-329-1103 Attorney for Appellant

Carson City, Nevada 89701

Suite H

JOHN FRANCIS DUNHAM,

Respondent.

Docket No. 82405

FILED

OCT 06 2021

ELIZABETH A. BROWN
CLERA OF SUAREME COURT
BY AEDITY LIERK

## APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW NRAP 40B

MARK JACKSON

ERIK A. LEVIN

Douglas County District Attorney

285 Buckeye

Minden, Nevada 89423

775-782-9800

**AARON FORD** 

Attorney General 100 N. Carson St.

Carson City, Nevada 89701

(775) 684-1100

## JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a district court order denying appellant's postconviction petition for a writ of habeas corpus. The court of appeals entered an order affirming the order of the district court. Appellant now petitions the supreme court for review pursuant to NRAP 40B.

# MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the court of appeals erred by concluding that Dunham can be convicted of felony home invasion of his own home based solely on the existence of a temporary restraining order.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

In 2016 appellant John Dunham was charged with "Invasion of the Home," a violation of NRS 205.067, and in a separate information, with burglary (NRS 205.060), both category B felonies. After trial on both charges, Dunham was acquitted of burglary, but convicted by the jury of home invasion. Appendix, Vol. II, p. 500-Vol. III, p. 501. Dunham appealed, and this court issued an opinion affirming the conviction. Dunham v. State, 134 Nev. 563, 426 P.3d 11 (2018). Dunham filed a timely postconviction petition, counsel was appointed, and the district court denied the petition. Dunham has appealed; the court of appeals affirmed the district court's order. Dunham now seeks this court's review pursuant to NRAP 40B.

The home invasion charge was based upon the allegation that, in violation of a temporary protective order, Dunham entered a South Lake Tahoe condominium he and his wife had bought the year before. Appendix, Vol I, pp. 1-9. Appendix, Vol. II, p.437-499. Dunham has argued that while he could properly have been convicted of a misdemeanor violation of the TPO, as a matter of law, he could not be convicted of felony home invasion because he cannot be convicted of home invasion of his own home.

Dunham's claim of ineffective assistance was in part based on the argument that his counsel should have made the above argument, and had counsel made this appropriate argument, Dunham would not have been convicted of a felony. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984); Warden v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432-33, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the test in Strickland).

By focusing on this narrow legal issue, Dunham does not waive any of the other arguments submitted to the district court or the court of appeals.

## BACKGROUND FACTS

Patricia Scripko and John Dunham were married in Boston in November 2012. *Appendix*, Vol. I, pp. 200-201. In July 2014, the couple moved to Salinas, California. *Appendix*, Vol. I, pp. 198, 203. In October of 2015 Mr. Dunham and Ms. Scripko purchased a condominium at 311 Olympic Court in Stateline, Nevada, using community property funds. They put the condominium in Ms. Scripko's name. *Appendix*, Vol. I, p. 212. During November 2015, a month after the condominium was purchased, the pipes froze causing considerable damage. *Appendix*, Vol II, p. 277. During the reconstruction, Mr. Dunham was frequently at the condominium supervising the renovations. *Appendix*, Vol. II, p. 316-18. In June 2016, Mr. Dunham and Ms. Scripko separated. *Appendix*, Vol. I, p. 200. Ms. Scripko remained in Monterey and Mr. Dunham spent the summer at the Stateline

25

condominium. Appendix, Vol. II, p. 279. On August 23, 2016, Ms. Scripkd obtained a temporary protective order from a California court against Mr. Dunham. Appendix, Vol. I, p.214, 216. The order restrained Mr. Dunham from contacting Ms. Scripko and purported to exclude him from both the condominium in Stateline and the apartment in Monterey - in effect preventing him from living in any of his homes. Appendix, Vol. I, p. 216. Despite this provision, Mr. Dunham continued to stay in the Stateline condo, with Ms. Scripko's knowledge. Appendix, Vol. II, p. 295, 317. After issuance of the TPO, Douglas County police encountered Dunham at the condo at least twice. Appendix, Vol. I, p. 156, 157. They advised Mr. Dunham that he could not be at that address, and Mr. Dunham acknowledged he understood. Id. On October 21, 2016, the police again found Mr. Dunham there and arrested him for a violation of the protective order. Appendix, Vol. I, pp. 66-68; 126. On the morning of October 26, 2016, shortly before Ms. Scripko was expected to arrive for a visit, the contractor went to the condominium to install some doors. Appendix, Vol. II, p. 311. When he arrived, he saw the screen was off the kitchen window and the window itself was broken. Appendix, Vol. II, p. 311-312. He also found the door unlocked. Id. Ultimately, he found Dunham asleep in the loft. Appendix, Vol. II, pp. 312-314. The contractor called the sheriff's office and Ms. Scripko. Appendix, Vol. II, p. 314.

Deputies responded and arrested Dunham. *Appendix*, Vol. II, pp. 336, 339-340. Based on this arrest, Mr. Dunham was charged with home invasion. Several days later, the State filed a new information charging burglary.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Nevada's "Home Invasion" offense is codified at NRS 205.067(1) and provides:

A person who, by day or night, forcibly enters an inhabited dwelling without permission of the owner, resident or lawful occupant, whether or not a person is present at the time of the entry, is guilty of invasion of the home.

Trial counsel focused her arguments both at trial and on appeal on the legal definition of "reside" and whether or not Ms. Scripko "resided" in the condominium under NRS 205.067(5)(b). By focusing solely on this limited issue, counsel failed to identify other tenable – and persuasive - arguments. This was not merely a strategic decision, but was instead a failure to present controlling law, and led directly to Dunham being improperly convicted.

There is no factual dispute that the condo unit was purchased with community funds during the marriage. "In this state, unless otherwise provided by law decree, or agreement, all property acquired after marriage is considered to be community property, NRS 123.220, and that presumption can only be overcome by

clear and convincing evidence." Peters v. Peters, 92 Nev. 687, 690, 557 P.2d 713. 715 (1976) (citing Todkill v. Todkill, 88 Nev. 231, 495 P.2d 629 (1972); Kelly v. Kelly, 86 Nev. 301, 468 P.2d 359 (1970)). This court has further confirmed that merely putting one party's name on the deed does not transmute community property into separate property. Specifically, in Burdick v. Pope, 90 Nev. 28, 518 P.2d 146 (1974), the wife, during the marriage, took real property solely in her name; this court expressly held that the mere phrase "her sole and separate property" in the deed standing alone without supporting evidence was not clear and certain proof required to overcome the presumption of community property. No evidence - other than Ms. Scripko's name on the deed - was offered or admitted at trial to suggest the condominium was Ms. Scripko's separate property. As a matter of law, therefore, the condo was community property and Dunham was the legal owner of the property.

Under Nevada law, "a person cannot commit the crime of home invasion by forcibly entering his or her own home if that person is a lawful occupant or resident of the home." *Truesdell v. State*, 129 Nev. 194, 202, 304 P.3d 396, 401 (2013) (emphasis added). Trial counsel should have argued that Mr. Dunham owned the home and could not have invaded his own home.

1 2 N 3 I 4 5 L 5 C 5 C 5 C 7 R 8 P 9

The court of appeals relied on this court's opinion in *White v. State*, 130 Nev. 533, 330 P.3d 482 (2014) to conclude that the TPO effectively vitiates Dunham's ownership interest. In *White*, this court held that a person with an unconditional right to enter a structure cannot burglarize the structure and therefore, by extension, because of the TPO, Dunham's right of access was not unconditional and therefore he was subject to a home invasion conviction. But Dunham was the owner of the condo, and he gave himself permission to enter.

The court of appeals failed to address the argument that NRS 193.166 provides a sentencing enhancement for a home invasion committed in violation of a TPO, but the underlying home invasion felony must be established first. The violation of the TPO cannot be used to establish the felony and then be used once again for the enhancement. This principle is akin to the rule this court developed under *McConnell v. State*, 120 Nev. 1043, 1069, 102 P.3d 606, 624 (2004). *In McConnell*, this court held that it is "impermissible under the United States and Nevada Constitutions to base an aggravating circumstance in a capital prosecution on the felony upon which a felony murder is predicated." 120 Nev. at 1069, 102 P.3d at 624. By the same token, the violation of a TPO cannot be used both to establish a home invasion and then be used again to enhance – or aggravate – the sentence.

////

### **CONCLUSION**

Mr. Dunham respectfully requests this court review the decision of the court of appeal and order the district court's order reversed and the judgment of conviction vacated.