#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Nov 01 2021 01:26 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

JOHN FRANCIS DUNHAM,

Appellant,

VS.

Supreme Court Case No. 82405

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK B. JACKSON Douglas County District Attorney Nevada Bar No. 4294 P.O. Box 218 Minden, NV 89423 (775) 782-9800 mjackson@douglas.nv.gov

ERIK A. LEVIN
Deputy District Attorney
Douglas County
Nevada Bar No. 6719
P.O. Box 218
Minden, NV 89423
(775) 782-9800
elevin@douglas.nv.gov
Attorneys for Respondent

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Court of Appeals properly found that Dunham did not demonstrate that trial counsel's failure to argue that Dunham could not be convicted of home invasion because he had a legal right to enter the home fell below an objective standard of reasonableness or a reasonable probability of a different outcome but for counsel's alleged errors. The Court of Appeals' decision was based on the undisputed fact that Dunham had a protective order issued against him prohibiting him from being within 100 yards of the residence in question and the well settled law in the State of Nevada that a defendant may be convicted of home invasion, even of their own home, if they do not have a lawful right to be in the home.

Dunham has offered this Court with no argument whatsoever that the issue herein meets any of the factors for consideration of review as suggested in NRAP 40(b)(a). In fact, the issue presented is not one of first impression or general statewide significance. The issue presented was decided under well-settled Nevada

Supreme Court precedent. The outcome of this case is not one of general statewide significance and it will affect Dunham only. The Court of Appeal decision is consistent with the precedent of this court and conflicts with no known controlling case law. Further, this case presents no issue of statewide public importance. Though the safety of guests and residents of the Nevada are always issues of public importance, in this case the Court of Appeals decision was consistent with this Court's precedent where this Court already addressed those issues.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Court of Appeals correctly applied Dunham's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel to the standards announced in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *Warden v. Lyons*, 100 Nev. 430 (1984); and *Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980 (1996). Dunham has not challenged the applicable standards for or the application of those standards to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. In fact, in the argument in his petition for review Dunham does not even mention ineffective assistance of counsel. Rather, Dunham spends all but one paragraph arguing whether or not he was the lawful owner of the property in question.

As the State argued, and the Court of Appeals confirmed, for the purposes of Nevada's Home Invasion statute, NRS 205.067, ownership of the property does not provide any right to entry if the owner has no lawful right to be there. The facts and rulings in this case are that Dunham had a protective order issued against him that

prohibited him from being within 100 yards of the residence. Whether or not he owned the property does not change that prohibition.

It is correct that, "a person cannot commit the crime of home invasion by forcibly entering his or her own home *if that person is a lawful occupant or resident* of the home." Truesdell v. State, 129 Nev. 194, 202 (2013) (emphasis added). As made clear at trial, Dunham, whether or not he had an ownership interest in 311 Olympic Court, did not have a lawful right to occupy, reside, or even be present within 100 yards of 311 Olympic Court because there was a valid protective order preventing him from being within 100 yards of the condominium at 311 Olympic Court.

This Court further analyzed the rational behind the absence of liability for a lawful occupant or resident of a home in the context of Nevada's Burglary statute, NRS 205.060. *State v. White*, 130, Nev. 533 (2014). In *White*, the Court reviewed the historical context and legislative intent behind Nevada's Burglary statute and concluded:

Based on this analysis, we conclude that while the Legislature has expanded common law burglary in several respects, it has at least retained the notion that: (1) burglary law is designed to protect a possessory or occupancy right in property, and (2) one cannot burglarize his own home so long as he has an absolute right to enter the home. Thus, while ownership may be one factor to consider, the appropriate question is whether the alleged burglar has an absolute, unconditional right to enter the home.

Id. at 538-39, (emphasis added). In White the defendant was entitled to relief because he was excluded from his home by agreement with the mother of his children. Id. at 535. White therefore, retained an absolute right to re-enter the residence. Id. at 539. By contrast, in this case Dunham was excluded from the home by judicial order. Therefore, while White could not be convicted of Burglary, in this case Dunham did not have an absolute unconditional right to enter the structure and he could be convicted of Invasion of the Home.

Dunham further complains that the Court of Appeals failed to address his argument that NRS 193.166 prohibits the crime of Invasion of the Home from being based on a violation of a temporary protective order. Thus, Dunham argues, "[t]he violation of the TPO cannot be used to establish the felony and then be used once again for the enhancement." This argument fails for several reasons. First, Dunham did not raise this claim until he filed his reply brief. As the name suggests, reply briefs generally are to answer any matter set forth in the opposing brief, not to raise new legal theories. *Bongiovi v. State*, 122 Nev. 556, fn. 5 (2006). The State did not have the opportunity to brief this theory in the Court of Appeals, nor did the Court of Appeals address this theory in its Order of Affirmance. Second, Dunham was neither charged with an enhancement under NRS 193.166 and, as a result, nor was he sentenced for it. JA Vol. I, p. 8; RA, 1-3. Finally, *Truesdell*, which both parties

rely upon in their arguments, was, like the present case, a home invasion that was based upon the violation of a protective order.

### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully asserts that this Court should deny the petition for review.